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Wednesday, November 30, 2016
--- On commencing at 2:04 p.m.

MR. THOMPSON:  Good afternoon.  Please be seated.

My name is Peter Thompson, and with me is Allison Duff.  The Board sits this afternoon to consider the application by Union Gas Limited for rates commencing January 1, 2017.

This application was filed on September 9, 2016 and updated on October 4, 2016.  The application is made under the auspices of Union's five-year price cap incentive rate-making framework approved by the Board on October 7, 2013 for the years 2014 to 2018.  This year -- the year 2017 is the fourth year of this five-year plan.

The Board's October 25, 2016 procedural order granted intervenor status to a number of parties, facilitated a discovery process, and scheduled a settlement conference and this hearing day.

The Board is in receipt of a settlement proposal dated November 23, 2016 and Staff submissions dated November 25, 2016 on the settled and unsettled issues.  No parties have identified any outstanding or disputed issues, as required by paragraph 5 of the procedural order.

The Board understands that the draft rate order that Union asks us to approve is the document in the application binder marked as the rate order tab and its appendices.

We are sitting this afternoon to consider whether to approve the settlement, and other matters related to the rate order Union requests.

With that, could we have appearances, please.
Appearances:


MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much, members of the Board, and let me say thank you for accommodating my schedule.  I was the reason behind the letter asking for the adjustment with Enbridge, and I appreciate the indulgence.

It is Crawford Smith.  I appear as counsel on behalf of Union, and with me are Mark Kitchen and Vanessa Innes, both from Union Gas.

MR. MONDROW:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chair, Member Duff.  Ian Mondrow, counsel for the Industrial Gas Users Association.

MR. MILLAR:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chair, Madam Duff.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  With me today is Lawrie Gluck.

MR. THOMPSON:  So, Mr. Millar, any suggestions as to how we should proceed?

MR. MILLAR:  I had a brief discussion with Mr. Smith before we began, and we propose to do it more or less as we did this morning.  Union could walk you through the settlement agreement.  I understand they intend to be quite brief with that, but obviously be available for any questions you may have.  And then to the extent Mr. Mondrow has anything we could go to him, and then Staff.

MR. THOMPSON:  Sounds good.

So Mr. Smith, do you want to proceed?  Should we mark these documents as exhibits as we did this morning or...

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  That sounds sensible to me, Mr. Chair.  So we have a settlement proposal that I would propose that we mark as Exhibit --


MR. MILLAR:  K1.1. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  SETTLEMENT PROPOSAL.

MR. SMITH:  And then we have Board Staff's submission.  We might as well mark that --


MR. MILLAR:  As K1.2. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  BOARD STAFF'S SUBMISSION.
Presentation of the Settlement Proposal by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  I did have the benefit, members of the Board, of reading, briefly, the transcript from this morning's proceeding.  So subject to your direction, I would simply propose that we follow that approach.

As you will have gathered, this is -- I'm not sure what the right word is, but this is a little bit unusual, in that we are here seeking approval of the application as it has been filed, and we have a settlement proposal which addresses, consistent with the notice and procedural orders that have been issued by the Board, that addresses a limited subset of items.  There are three of them.  And I am happy to take any questions.

What I would propose to do at this stage is just highlight the three items that are in the settlement proposal, and in my submission, the Board can take comfort that we have a complete settlement in relation to those issues.

And I agree with the observations, frankly, that were made this morning about the way in which the Board can take comfort, both from the settlement proposal and then later, when we get to the unsettled issues, from Board Staff's submission, which I will allow Mr. Millar to go through, but I agree with.

So if that is fine from your perspective.

So there are -- the settlement agreement reflects a comprehensive settlement on three items that were addressed during the settlement conference, those three items being in the order in which they are addressed in the settlement agreement beginning at page 5, the cost allocation and rate design relating to changes to Union's north storage and transportation rates.

The second item is in relation to the costs associated with the Parkway delivery commitment incentive and an acknowledgement by Union to further explore the potential of incenting customers to deliver at Parkway even if not obligated.

Then the third relates to a new service, which is customer-managed service, whether that ought to be established for T2 customers.

So let me just deal with them very quickly in the order in which I have just addressed them.

Essentially the first two are really the implementation, if I can put it that way, of previous settlements.  So the first falls out of a settlement that was approved by the Board earlier this year, back in January, relating to the Dawn Reference Price.

And just by way of background, to the extent it is of any use, Union -- as people will know -- has transitioned its gas supply portfolio to be more predominantly Dawn-based.

It had traditionally had an Empress Alberta border reference price for its northern transportation customers or northern zones.  There were a number of them.  Through that settlement, those zones were rationalized, and the reference price has been moved to Dawn.

So this is the implementation of that settlement.  It involved the development of a cost allocation for two of the zones and the implementation of the rate design.  That's reflected in the evidence and the working papers -- I think it is working paper 23 show the actual cost allocation there, and that's what's been agreed to by the parties.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I have a number of questions about the settlement.  Why don't you go through your presentation, and then I will come back to the questions, if that is suitable.

MR. SMITH:  I'm happy to take -- yeah, no.  That's fine.  And obviously I am happy to take them however you would like.

Item 2, which is at page 6 of the settlement agreement, relates to the Parkway delivery commitment incentive.  What the parties have agreed to is the inclusion of Parkway delivery commitment incentive costs of 16.559 million in 2017 rates and then the allocation of those costs in a manner which is consistent with the way in which Parkway delivery obligation costs of 8.4 million have been included in rates.

And again, the Parkway delivery settlement is something that was approved by the Board in the 2013-0365 case.  So this is again the implementation for 2017 of that settlement. 

The parties further agree that there is no excess Dawn to Parkway capacity for the period January 2017 to October 31st, 2017, but that for the balance of the period, if there is, that would be captured in what is the Board- approved Parkway delivery obligation deferral account, and that will capture any costs associated with that additional Dawn to Parkway capacity.

That capacity, if it becomes available, may be then available to relieve customers of their existing or then-existing Parkway delivery obligation.  So we will see how that plays out. 

The other item that is reflected in the settlement at page 6 is an acknowledgement by Union, and agreement by Union to continue to investigate opportunities to eliminate remaining Parkway delivery obligation for DP customers and sales service customers, provided it can be eliminated in a manner that is cost-effective for all ratepayers than the current PDO costs -- so in other words, can it be done in a less expensive manner -- and that may include will being at whether an incentive could be paid to customers while not requiring that they deliver at Parkway, could they be incented to do so in a way that would still be cost-effective or otherwise appropriate, and that is something that Union has committed to exploring.

MR. THOMPSON:  What does that mean?  Is it something different than the PDCI? 

MR. SMITH:  Well, the PDCI is a payment that is a recognition of the benefit of having Parkway deliveries.  But the customers still maintain, as I understand it, a Parkway delivery obligation.

So they're still required to deliver, but they get -- Effectively, they get incented and paid to do so.

The question is, if you don't require it, what is it going to require by way of incentive to get them to deliver there nevertheless? 

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So it is more flexibility, is it? 

MR. SMITH:  That's right.  The last item is -- just by way of reference, this is the customer-managed service.  This is the subject of the evidence at tab 4.  There's some 20 pages of pre-filed evidence that deals with this, along with appendices.  I am not proposing to go through all 20 pages, but happy to answer any questions. 

Essentially, this is a response to customer feedback.  There have opinion customer focus groups going back some two years looking at this issue.  The issue is really for Dawn-obligated customers, is there a way to relieve them of their Dawn obligated daily contract quantity or their DCQ,  the idea being how can they better match consumption.  their own consumption with their delivery obligation. 

So what customers were looking for -- particularly those who may not be consuming gas on a firm even basis -- is there a way that they can be relieved of their Dawn obligation in a way that is still, given where Union is in an IRM term, in a way that is neutral to Union and neutral to all other rate classes.  So they wouldn't be picking up the burden of this.

MR. THOMPSON:  Are these the generators, gas-fired generators, or other customers? 

MR. SMITH:  Not necessarily. 

MR. THOMPSON:  I am happy to have Mr. Kitchen --


MR. KITCHEN:  The answer is not necessarily. 

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay. 

MR. SMITH:  There are, and there are some who are not, who may have operations.  I mean, there is one customer, for example, who would have a Parkway obligation, but also has other facilities with a Dawn obligation. And they may be looking to relieve themselves of the Dawn obligation. 

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I should say I am happy to have Mr. Kitchen answer if there are questions that are getting too granular for you, Mr. Smith. 

MR. SMITH:  Well, I would be loathe to concede up front that the question is too granular for me, but --


[Laughter]

MR. THOMPSON:  I know.  I'm just testing you.

MR. SMITH:  But nevertheless, for expedience, it may convenient for Mr. Kitchen to chime in as need be.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks. 

MR. SMITH:  I am happy to take any questions you may have in relation to those items or, frankly, any of the aspects of the application.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, thanks, that would be great.  There are not many of them, but I think probably the best way to do this would be to have the Staff submission on the settlement proposal by these various topics at your side there, and I will just go through them one by one. 

So dealing with the Union north cost allocation and rate design implementation and the Dawn reference settlement, were there numbers in that settlement as to the impacts on customers in these various zones?  Or was it a more dealing with principle and no numbers?

The reason I ask that is if you go to page 13 of the Staff submission, you will see that in the former northwestern service area, now north-west -- I gather east of Fort Frances, but west of Sault Ste. Marie -- there is quite a significant increase.  But all of the other areas in the former northern operations area are credits. 

And my sense is that sort of jumps out at me.  What is the cause for that? 

MR. SMITH:  I did look at -- well, let me answer the first part of your question. 

I did go back and look at the settlement approving the Dawn reference price settlement.  There are no detailed numbers like you see here spelling that out. 

What the settlement proposal said is that the parties agree with Union's proposal to set storage and transportation rates for the Union northwest and Union northeast zones, based on a detailed cost-allocation methodology by zone, and that the storage and transportation rates would be set on a postage-stamp basis.

What I didn't, unfortunately, do -- which might have been more helpful -- is go back to Union's underlying evidence in-chief, because there are many references as you can appreciate in the settlement agreement in that case back to that evidence.  So I can't tell you, off the top of my head, whether there were directional numbers or not. 

MR. KITCHEN:  I am sure that within the original evidence, there would have been numbers, a lot of detail around the impacts.

I can tell you that, when we changed methodologies, and moving from five zones to essentially two in the north, there was definitely some changes in cost allocation that took place.

So what we did in the past is when we would he would allocate the costs of transportation to each of the zones, it wasn't a pure attribution of toll to zone.  It truly was an allocation of costs across the zones.

What we have tried to do in the redesign is to actually attribute the costs of providing the transportation, from TransCanada or whoever, to that zone.  So it is more of a direct attribution. 

So what would happen in the north-west^ zone is that they were likely getting benefits through the old allocation method that went away, once you actually attribute the true costs of the transportation to serve them. 

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So playing that back, is the north-west zone continuing to be served from the -- off the TCPL system? 

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the north-west zone is Fort Frances, which I think is in the Manitoba --


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, in the MDA.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right, MDA.  And then what are the communities in what you have formerly called the north- western area, service area.  Is that Thunder Bay and Atikokan --


MR. KITCHEN:  Thunder Bay, Atikokan, those -- Kenora.

MR. THOMPSON:  Does it go all the way on the north shore to Sault Ste. Marie?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yeah, without having a map I would say
-- yes, Sault Ste. Marie was always in sort of its own DSSMDA --


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MR. KITCHEN:  -- but the SSMDA is still in northwest zone.  But I think it would go as far over as Sudbury, subject to check.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so will those communities, Thunder Bay and Atikokan, Kenora, be served from WSCB supply?  Or from non -- in other words, is the Dawn supply --


MR. KITCHEN:  They're -- they're --


MR. THOMPSON:  -- kicking up this number?

MR. KITCHEN:  No.  Their reference price -- they will continue to be served using Western Canadian supplies.

The Dawn reference price really comes into play for those areas that are now being served by short-haul.  So remember, if you recall in the Parkway West Brantford Kirkwall application, there was a number of days spent talking about the conversion from long-haul to short-haul and the settlement with TransCanada.

This changed to the north is really a reflection of those movements from long-haul to short-haul.  So we are now serving the EDA, for instance, using Dawn supplies and short-haul, along with the NDA.

So we have turned back some of our long-haul capacity in the north, replaced it with short-haul, and as a result the gas supply plan changed, and as a result of that we've made these changes to the costs so that the cost of serving them reflects the actual costs of where they're being served from.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But take Thunder Bay.  My sister will be phoning me about this.  I want to make sure I have the facts straight.  

[Laughter]

But they have not been served under these numbers until this rate order gets approved.  Is that right?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  They're continuing to be served under the old type of regime?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so -- and I think that means Fort Frances rates are a little bit lower than Thunder Bay, and then Thunder Bay a little bit lower than -- as you move east.

And so when this goes into effect and they wake up, the Thunder Bay people are going to be $25, in terms of change, higher than Fort Frances and $45 higher than people in the Sault.  Is that right?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Doesn't that have problems written all over it, in terms of communication?

MR. KITCHEN:  Well, I think that obviously we're going to have to communicate these changes to customers.  And we have been communicating already some of these changes.

I guess the way I would look at it is, yes, there will be impacts, but the impacts better reflect the actual cost of providing the service.

In other words, if the -- under the old methodology there would have been subsidization happening across the zones, whereas with the new methodology that subsidization has been reduced.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay --


MR. KITCHEN:  But just in terms of communication, we will be -- as part of the notice, we are talking about the change in rate zones in the notice, and that will be spelled out.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, then coming back to the settlement which is -- it is called the Union north storage and transportation rates, and then down below it talks about the Union northwest and the Union northeast zones.

Can you help me with, is there just one storage and transportation rate to the north that goes to either or both of these zones?  Or should it be Union's northwest storage and northeast storage transportation rates?  Do you follow me?

MR. SMITH:  This is an issue of nomenclature.  I mean, there are northwest and northeast zones, just as a matter of fact.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  So are you asking for the purpose of communication to customers should it be more clearly spelled out that there are northwest and northeast zones?  Is that the nature of the question?

MR. THOMPSON:  I think what I am asking is, the Union north storage and transportation rate, what zones does it serve?  All of them?

MR. KITCHEN:  Well, there will be a northwest zone in the north and there will be the northeast, which is essentially -- the east is Kingston, and that area, Cornwall.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MR. KITCHEN:  And the -- there's still some north in the northeast, which is North Bay.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so --


MR. KITCHEN:  And maybe I'm not answering your question.  I'm a little -- I must admit I am a bit confused --


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I'm just trying to figure out, does this rate -- is it a distance-based rate to a load centre in one zone and a different one for the east zone?

MR. KITCHEN:  No.  The customers that are in the northeast, whether you are in the northern, which is the old Union NDA --


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MR. KITCHEN:  -- or in the EDA, which is Kingston, will pay the same toll, pay the same rate.  That was the comment that Mr. Smith made around maintaining postage-stamp rates within the zone.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Well, that was -- I guess that was why I was asking whether these numbers in the Staff's submission to the northwest were in part contributed to by this rate, and I think what you are telling me is, no, they're not.

MR. SMITH:  Correct.

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, I don't know if this would be of assistance to you or not, but -- Member Thompson, but if you were to want to look at, for example, for a Rate 01 customer in the rate-order working papers, for example, at schedule 8, it does show the side-by-side comparison between the previously-approved amount and the, what we hope to be newly approved amounts so that you can see that in a more detailed way.

And then, as I said, there is an even more detailed breakdown of that cost allocation --


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  -- at working paper 23.

MR. THOMPSON:  What is that exhibit number, please?

MR. SMITH:  It is rate-order working paper Schedule 8.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thanks.

All right.  Let's move on then.  Do you have something you want to ask...

MS. DUFF:  It's on your screen.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So point me to the differential here somewhere.  Okay.  I will check it later, that's fine.

MR. KITCHEN:  If you look at page 2, you can see the 17.55 showing up for the northwest zone.  It is not as clear on the screen, but it is at line 13, column F.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  So that is the number that is in the -- Mr. -- well, it is in Staff's schedule, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  I think it is in the notice of proceeding as well.

MR. KITCHEN:  It is.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, okay.  Okay, thanks.

Now, let's then go to the next topic just to make sure that we understand this.  And in the Staff submissions starting at page 10 they give quite a bit of background to this PDO-PDCI evolution.  And you addressed that, Mr. Smith, in some of your remarks.

But the first aspect of the agreement, if I understand it correctly, is the amount of the PDCI costs.  That is the 16.559 million, and all intervenors that participate in the conference accepted that?

MR. SMITH:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then the next piece is the -- deals with the question of whether there is excess Dawn to Parkway capacity to facilitate deliveries.  And is that referring to additional PDO -- sorry, yes.  Is that what the sentence is referring to? 

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, which sentence?  You're talking about the sentence in the settlement?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  It’s the period January 31 to October 31, they're saying there is no excess Dawn to Parkway capacity.

MR. SMITH:  There is no available turn back to be used to facilitate further reductions in the Parkway delivery obligation.

MR. THOMPSON:  That is the purpose of it.  And then, attached to the settlement agreement, are updated or -- I guess it’s what they’re called, updated -- yes, updated interrogatory responses to Mr. Quinn of FRPO, and I just want to make sure that the panel understands how these fit into this section of this agreement. 

So the first one deals with an equivalency factor, and the question was asked about the understanding the reduction in equivalency factor, and there is an answer and some schematics. 

Could you just tell us how that factors into this aspect of the agreement? 

MR. SMITH:  I will let Mr. Kitchen answer the question directly.  But let me just say there is a reason why these are attached, and that is there were questions asked of Union through the interrogatory process and answers were given.

And then, as you can appreciate, there were other questions asked during the settlement conference.  Those of course don't make their way on to the record unless they're otherwise filed.

And this reflects that, so they would then be on the record and not simply discussion, which of course would, under the Board's guidelines, be confidential.

So that is a way for this information that was being sought that had not been sought at first instance in the interrogatory process, to be on the record for subsequent use or whatever. 

But it was important that it be included and be on the record, and there you have it.  So that's why you see this attached.

MR. THOMPSON:  I think we understand that.  I was just trying to have someone, in plain language, tell us why this first updated interrogatory, I guess, is provided to corroborate the statement that there is no excess Dawn to Parkway capacity.  Is that its purpose? 

MR. SMITH:  Well, the answer is, yes.  As you will perhaps be aware, Dawn to Kirkwall capacity which is being turned back gives rise to capacity on the Dawn-Parkway system that can be used to facilitate relieving the Parkway delivery obligation.  But it is not a one to one reduction.

So volume that's being turned back on Dawn Kirkwall doesn't translate to the same volume on the Dawn to Parkway system.  That's what is referred to as the equivalency factor that people were looking at in this interrogatory.

The underlying settlement itself provides that Union will try to manage the Parkway delivery obligation through the reduction -- sorry, through Dawn to Kirkwall turnback.  So it is of interest to people to know how is your turnback coming Dawn to Kirkwall, and what does that mean on the Parkway system. 

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks for that.  And then the next document that was updated talks about turnback elections, and there is a supplemental response there.  Could you just explain how that ties into the -- this aspect of the agreement? 

MR. KITCHEN:  In short, I'm not sure that it directly relates to the settlement.  As part of the requests, we had been asked to provide an additional year of information in table 1, which we did. 

I think the first interrogatory really is the interrogatory -- the first updated interrogatory is the one that went most to the settlement, because it also was in relation to the schematics and whether or not there was a surplus.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks.  Then the third interrogatory response that's attached deals with dollars for PDO and PDCI, and then there is two attachments to that interrogatory response. 

And again, how does this tie into this particular feature of the agreement?  What's this intending to tell us, if anything? 

MR. KITCHEN:  I don't believe that this updated interrogatory was really used in any context within the discussions around the settlement.  It was asked by FRPO and we provided the answer, but to be honest, it never really was raised with us during the discussions. 

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So this is a new way of getting updated interrogatory responses, is it?  

MR. SMITH:  It is a way. It is not uncommon for people to ask for information, and to move discussion along it is better to answer it.

MR. THOMPSON:  No, no I'm not criticizing it, but when it comes in the form of an agreement, you have to ask.

MR. SMITH:  I understand.

MR. KITCHEN:  The first interrogatory is really the interrogatory, I think, that supports the agreement. 

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then are the next two paragraphs essentially one? 

So it starts ^“For the period November 1st-December 31st".  Does that just go down to the quote?  Or is all of what appears below that, tied in together? 

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, you are back in the settlement? 

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  There is an acknowledgement from the settlement, and then it goes on to provide, from Union, a further acknowledgement that they’d discussed with --


MR. SMITH:  Yes, it is all one in the same. 

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So we've talked about that.  And then I don't think I have anything further, Mr. Smith, on the contents of the settlement.  But there are a couple of questions I would like to put to Union on some of the statements in the Board Staff submission.

MR. SMITH:  Certainly. 

MR. THOMPSON:  So why don't I do that now, before we hear from Mr. Mondrow and Mr. Millar. 

The first question I had was dealing with the major capital projects, so this would be at page five, where Staff summarizes these five projects and makes a statement that the Y factor capital pass-through was 30.22 million in 2016.  It is going up to $76.78 million in 2017.  And therefore, there is this incremental amount of $46.56 million that is part of the rate application that you are making here. 

And my question is:  Is that incremental $46.56 million tied to these same five projects? 

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, it relates to the five projects.

MR. THOMPSON:  And were all of these projects the subject matter of the Y factor pass-through in 2016? 

MR. KITCHEN:  They would have been subject to Y factor treatment as they were applied for. So not all of them would have been in 2016. 

MR. THOMPSON:  I didn't mean when they began.  But they were all rolling along, were they, as part of projects ^^^ TAKE 4 ^^^
being included in this y factor coverage? 

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes. 

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And is there some sort of -- sorry, these numbers stem from, from what I read in Staff's submission, the Board-approved numbers in the leave-to-construct cases?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And is there some sort of true-up that takes place for actuals at some point?  Or are those numbers what the company lives with --


MR. KITCHEN:  As part of each application, each leave-to-construct application, we apply for a deferral account, which we'll true-up for actual costs.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  There is, in every one of the five applications there, a deferral account that captures that.

MR. THOMPSON:  So we don't need to worry about these, because at the end of the day they will be actual costs?

MR. SMITH:  That's right.

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the next question I had was just on normalized average consumption adjustment.

And the percentages range here, according to the Staff summary, from a negative 3.7 to negative 7.3 percent.  Does that mean that people are consuming more, relative to the prior year?  Or less?

MR. SMITH:  If I am reading the --


MR. KITCHEN:  Oh, sorry.  It is a decrease, yes.

MR. SMITH:  It is a decrease in '15 relative to '14.  That's how NAC is measured.  That's why --


MR. THOMPSON:  Year over year.  So rates go up for those --


MR. KITCHEN:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- customers --


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- because of their -- what's the change in their behaviour that is causing that?

MR. SMITH:  That's a good question.

MR. THOMPSON:  Wanting to be warmer in the winter or something?  These are Staff's words, they're not yours, but...

MR. KITCHEN:  Yeah.  Well, Staff does talk about the changes in general-service rate classes being attributable to changes in behaviour as a result from DSM.  That is one of the factors that will drive changes in NAC.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  The other piece of evidence I can refer you to is the answer to Exhibit B, Staff 9, which asked to discuss the main drivers of the changes in NAC.  And what's identified as being four items, DSM, there's a leap-year adjustment.  Change -- obviously that is not happening every year.  Change in weather normal and change in customer behaviour.

The more detailed explanation later in the interrogatory relates to the continued presence of energy-efficiency-related forces, improved building code in new homes and building construction, furnace replacement, and the impact of DSM.

It was actually warmer in 2015 by 9.2 percent in the south and 8.4 percent in the north.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that is one of the factors in your IRM that's essentially mechanistic?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then I think I'm okay here until -- yes.  So the last two pages, 13 and 14.  Implementation and customer notice.  You will be aware I had a similar discussion with Enbridge this morning.

And Staff, in this submission, is saying essentially what was said in the Enbridge submission, and this is the last paragraph:

"Staff understands that Union will provide customers with notices of all bill changes as part of its January 2017 QRAM."

And it goes on to suggest that will include the cap and trade interim rate adjustment, what comes out of this case, as well as the QRAM --


MR. SMITH:  That's right.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- case.  Is that Union's plan as well?  Or have notices gone out to Union customers on the cap and trade?

MR. SMITH:  It is Union's plan.

MR. KITCHEN:  Well, it is Union's plan.  The notices won't go out until the January bill.  So --


MR. THOMPSON:  Nothing has gone out yet --


MR. KITCHEN:  Nothing has gone out.  Now, I shouldn't -- it is not that nothing has gone out.  We have been communicating with customers since early fall around cap and trade and the impacts, expected impacts, of cap and trade through bill inserts in --


MR. THOMPSON:  How is that going?

MR. KITCHEN:  So far so good.  We have been -- we did share those early ones with Staff to get their input as well.

I haven't talked to our communications group or our customer-care folks to find out if we're getting any feedback, but we have been communicating on those items.

We have also -- we have an online system called My Account that if you go into -- there is a large banner now displayed.  I went in this morning to get some information for my wife, and it displays a banner that indicates that effective January 1st bills will be adjusted to reflect the impacts of cap and trade.

And also within the website there is a calculator that will allow customers to actually estimate the impact of cap and trade.

So we have done quite a bit of pre-communication on that already.  The notice that will -- at least the notice that we're planning to do will deal with all the changes.  Cap and trade would not be called out specifically as a -- in terms of a number, but it would be indicated as a driver of the delivery rate change.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MR. KITCHEN:  And as will the changes in rate zones.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And the cap and trade interim order talked about impact, in terms of dollars per month, whereas this application talks about them in dollars per year.

Have you decided on whether it is going to be dollars per year, dollars per month, or both?

MR. KITCHEN:  Well, the -- what we have been communicating in the bill inserts so far is an annual --


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

MR. KITCHEN:  -- impact, at least for our general-service customers.  And for our larger customers we have been talking about it in terms of a rate impact.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

MR. KITCHEN:  Just in terms of one of the things that we do as part of our process is we do send the notices to staff for their review as well.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And you continue to do that.

MR. KITCHEN:  And we continue to do that.

MR. THOMPSON:  When I talked to Enbridge about this, it was kind of an informal liaison exercise to make sure that what is being said -- everybody is comfortable with what is being said.  Is that the kind of thing that goes on?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  That's all I have.  Ms. Duff may have some questions.

MS. DUFF:  Well, you answered most of them.

In terms of the settlement proposal, the language used is "Union acknowledges and Union agrees to a few extra things."

If you have read the transcript from this morning, you would have seen that in Enbridge they are calling them "commitments".

In addition to your application as filed, do you consider there are a few more commitments or things that you have agreed to as a company as part of the settlement proposal?  Namely -- do you want me to take you through them?  That I see?

MR. SMITH:  Well, I did see that in the Enbridge discussion.  There was a question about whether intervenors and Enbridge, I guess, was comfortable with having those reflected in the Board's decision.  The one that sprung to mind to me was the wording around Parkway delivery commitment incentive.

I don't have any concerns about it.  Obviously everybody's expectation is that the company is going to abide by an agreement that is approved by the Board.  But I don't have any concerns in that respect.

MS. DUFF:  And that agreement was a product of the settlement discussions, correct?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  That wording is -- the settlement agreement is the product of discussion with respect to the wording that would be agreed upon, and that is what the company and the intervenors agreed to.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Mondrow.
Submissions by Mr. Mondrow:


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Perhaps just to deal with Ms. Duff's point first, since it is still top of mind, certainly for me. 

It seems to me, Member Duff, that the Parkway delivery commitment incentive discussion and settlement relates to the Parkway delivery obligation agreement, and reiterates that and the wording reflects that.

The customer-managed service commitment to report on revenue-neutrality of the service, that is actually a new commitment that is not in the application.  So I would consider that a commitment, certainly in my submission.

And the second point under the customer managed service is actually a tariff modification, as it were, and that is the agreement on Union's part that any payments by customers on account of this billing adjustment -- which is meant to compensate Union for injection withdrawal, infrastructure that is no longer being used by the customer under CMS because their allocation of injection withdrawal rights is lower under CMS than under conventional T2, but they're nonetheless paying for that for the interim period until the end of the IRM term.

And the agreement was if they're paying for that anyway, that will be credit against in the overrun charges for withdrawal or injection, and that is actually a modification of the proposal.  So I would consider that beyond a commitment.  It is actually an agreement to a tariff change that is a condition of service change.  And I don't think there is any dispute about that. 

But in respect of the impacts of the settlement and how the Board might reflect those in its order, certainly on the part of the commitment and the tariff change for customer-managed service, I think it would be most appropriate for the Board to reflect those expressly in the order.

And on PDCI, I think it is simply an acknowledgement of a previous agreement.

Just to complete the cycle, on the cost allocation rate design, I think the agreement is simply an acknowledgement of the appropriateness, so I don't think there is anything more to do.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you for that.

MR. MONDROW:  Back to, if I could for just a couple of minutes, my more general submissions.

As was the case we saw as short ago as this morning in respect of Enbridge's application, Union has acknowledged it is seeking approval of its application as filed, and it has also acknowledged the settlement agreement before you addresses three discrete matters addressed in that application.

So I would submit, not unsurprisingly, to you that with respect to those three matters and as worded by the NEB, a negotiated settlement that involves a full range of interested parties will normally reflect the public interest.  And this hearing panel can take some confidence and direction from the settlement agreement in respect of those matters addressed in the settlement agreement; for example, the Dawn supply change and the resulting cost allocation and rate design impacts. 

Mr. Chair, you had some questions for Union to clarify that, quite appropriately obviously.  But just looking at the settlement agreement on that topic at page 5, I think the first sentence refers somewhat generically to Union north storage and transportation rates. I notice that that is a plural reference. 

Then later in that paragraph, there is an express acknowledgement on the part of the settlement conference parties, that the changes to storage and transportation rates are properly based on detailed cost allocation for each of the new Union northwest^ and Union northeast zones.

So at least in respect of the cost allocation changes for storage and transportation rates -- and not addressing the delivery rate impact in the Staff submission, but in respect of the storage and transportation rates, there is consensus among the participating and informed parties that Union has carried out that implementation correctly. 

And again, I submit that the Board can take some comfort from that examination and consensus on behalf of those interested intervenors.

In respect of the matters not addressed in the settlement agreement, as acknowledged earlier, I think, in the hearing panel's decision in the Enbridge application, the reasonableness of Union's proposals will have to be established in some other fashion.

IGUA will certainly acknowledge in is, by and large -- the other issues are, by and large, mechanistic adjustments.  You will have Staff's submissions.  You will, of course, have the balance of the record, but what you will not have is the review and sign-off, as it were, by the experienced intervenors.

So, again, in my submission, the Board will have to take a slightly different approach in respect in respect of those topics and, to some extent, I know the exchange that preceded my submissions has attempted to address that, and Staff will have its submissions on those matters as well. 

So just focussing for another few points on the settlement agreement and on the topic of the Parkway delivery commitment incentive, and some of the questions, Mr. Chair, that you were asking earlier.

There is a distinction, in my submission, between Dawn Parkway capacity and Dawn-Kirkwall turnback, and I believe that the settlement agreement on PDO addresses, capacity made available by Dawn-Kirkwall turnback to relieve the PDO obligation. 

I say that by way of background and if I could take you -- you were asking some questions, Mr. Chair, about the updated FRPO interrogatory response 1, and if I could take you then to the attachment 2 to the settlement agreement -- I guess, updated attachment 2 – sorry, it is attachment 1 to the settlement agreement.  It is updated attachment 2 to the FRPO interrogatory, and if I could take you to the second page of schematics, I think the relevance of this evidence is -- and noting that at the bottom of this page, there is a box, and in the text box it says:  ^“Winter design day, Dawn-Parkway system, winter 2016-2017”, which, of course, is the lion's share of the test year, but not the entire test year.

You will see that right in the centre above that text box, there is a total shortfall surplus number, and the number is a shortfall of 37,000s gJs per day.

If you flip over one page -- well, two pages further, you have winter design day 2017-2018. And that, of course, includes November and December of the test year.  And you will see that the total shortfall/surplus there is a surplus number of about 68,500 gJs per day. 

And the reason that is relevant is, if you go back to the settlement agreement itself, the settlement agreement on page 6 under topic 2 acknowledges about halfway through the paragraph that for the period of January 1st, 2017, to October 31st, 2017, the parties accept there is no excess Dawn to Parkway capacity to facilitate Parkway deliveries. That is Dawn to Parkway capacity, as distinct from Dawn-Kirkwall turnback.

And then later on in the paragraph, dealing with the stub period of November 1st, 2017, to December 31st, 2017:  
“The parties, for the purpose of settlement, acknowledge that the Parkway delivery obligation deferral account will capture any costs associated with any additional Dawn to Parkway capacity that may become available on and applied to relief of Dawn obligations in accordance with the PDO settlement.”

So in my submission, the first part I read to you from the settlement agreement acknowledges for most of the test year, there is nothing further to be done about PDO relief.

There is some uncertainty reflected. in my submission, in the settlement in respect of the two final months of the test year.  And the parties have recognized that there is a deferral account to address that period and, as appropriate, that might be addressed for the next application, depending on what unfolds between now and then in respect of Parkway delivery.

So I think that is the relevance of that attachment to the settlement agreement, and it simply supports the settlement that the parties came to.

And also in respect of the attachments, if I could take you to page numbered 19, I guess, of the settlement package, which is from FRPO number 3, you will see on page 19 there is a calculation which admittedly isn't really much explained elsewhere, but there is a calculation which involves $2 figures.

The first is the 8.426 million which is the costs embedded in the settlement Parkway delivery obligations settlement agreement for Union to manage PDO -- to provide PDO reduction.  And the second, the 16.5 roughly million dollars is the cost of the PDCI credit.

You will see there is an attempt made, at least in the way the question was framed, to get a cost per unit for each of those two elements of the PDO or the Parkway delivery situation, one being the Parkway delivery obligation relief and the costs associated with that, and the other thing the Parkway delivery commitment incentive being paid for remaining Parkway obligated deliveries.

And there is a comparison, however apt that may be, between the cost of those two components of the Parkway delivery situation. 

And if you turn back to the settlement agreement at the bottom of page 6, I think that last paragraph deals with Union's acknowledgement of its continuing commitment to investigate cost-effective opportunities.  And it says, in fact, about halfway through that last paragraph:
“More cost-effective for all of Union's ratepayers than the current PDO costs, including the costs of the PDCI included in rates.

And so, again, while perhaps only tangentially supportive and descriptive of the settlement agreement, that is data that may at some point be relevant to assessment of the extent to which Union has fulfilled that commitment from the previous settlement and those obligations.

I wouldn't put it any higher than that.  I'm not suggesting there is any argument with the settlement or with Union's position at this point, but there was a reason for the request for those updated numbers, and there is a reason that they were asked to be appended to the settlement agreement to keep that information together for future reference.

MR. THOMPSON:  So to play that back, you are trying to get some sort of benchmark for evaluating cost-effectiveness?

MR. MONDROW:  I think so.  Without, for the purposes of this settlement, entering into any further discussion or debate about what more could be done or should be done or might be done, because we're not there yet.  But that benchmark was requested and established.

And I don't want to overstate the significance of those numbers.  They haven't been parsed.  They're not reflected in the settlement agreement.  But there was a reason for asking for them and, to the extent that becomes relevant, the Board will hear about that in due course and in a different application, if and when it becomes an issue as between the parties.

But to be clear, I am not suggesting in any way an undermining of the settlement agreement or Union's conduct in this respect.

MR. THOMPSON:  No, no, I understand what you're getting at.

MR. MONDROW:  But there is a reason that it is there.  It was more than simply a whim, so I wanted to clarify that.

In respect of CMS, the only comment I would make, Mr. Chair, is it is not just a power-gen issue, and I can tell you from IGUA's perspective there is an IGUA member who is on the record as having participated in the working group that Union established and certainly is very supportive of the customer-managed service as a way to control its gas costs as appropriate, particularly in high-priced periods in the winter.  As reflected on the record, the driver for this service was the polar vortex winter, when customers with delivery obligations were having to get very expensive gas, and it may be that for some of those customers not consuming and not delivering would be a better option, and I think this service proposal is responsive to that.

And it has been designed, as Union's evidence reveals and the settlement agreement acknowledges, on a revenue-neutral basis for the moment.

So -- but it certainly is a matter of concern to IGUA, and IGUA is supportive of the service.  So it goes beyond power gen.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is it a service that provides some, you know, temporary relief of an obligated delivery at Dawn?  Is that what I understood you to say, Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, it is intended to relieve and provide a non-obligated Dawn service.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  In respect, finally, Mr. Chair, of the other issues that you asked about, the major capital projects, the normalized average consumption changes, given the scope of the settlement discussions, I am afraid I can't assist you with those, but I am sure Staff will.

Thank you very much.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  Mr. Millar.
Submissions by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I don't intend to take too much of your time.  I will start with some high-level overview remarks that address some of the comments made by Mr. Smith and Mr. Mondrow, and that is about the unusual nature of the agreement and the not-agreement that's being presented to you today.

As you will have seen and you saw this morning, in this case we have a complete settlement on some issues and for the rest of the issues there is neither any settlement nor any objections and, indeed, really no comments on those issues other than the comments you have received from Board Staff.

If you will permit me to repeat myself from this morning, we're hopeful that the Board can accept the application, the settlement, as filed for three reasons, specifically with respect to the issues where there is no settlement.

The first is, as my friends have acknowledged, the understanding with respect to the issues that are not part of the settlement agreement is that they are by and large mechanistic issues, and I think that is probably why the determination was made that they would not be cost-eligible activities for the intervenors.

Now, of course, there are cases where it turns out what were thought to be mechanistic updates are not mechanistic updates.  So certainly you can't just leave it at that.

But there are two additional safeguards.  The first is the comments you have received from Board Staff, and we did file a fairly lengthy submission that reviews both the settled and the unsettled issues.

We did more than simply say we don't have any concerns.  We did provide commentary on all of the issues broadly, and we hope those were of some assistance to the Board Panel.

Of course the third line of defence and perhaps the most important is the Board Panel itself.  You, of course, have reviewed all of the materials, the application, the settlement agreement, and all the other filed materials.  It is obvious, from the questions that you asked, you took it in and you understood it all.

So to the extent you had any concerns, you have already asked some questions, and Mr. Smith and Mr. Mondrow have attempted to answer them.  But ultimately it will come down to you, whether or not you are satisfied.

So I think, with those circumstances in place, you should be comfortable that you have a full and complete record and you have everything you need right now to make a final determination on the entire application.

I don't intend to take you through our comments on the settled and the unsettled issues.  You have raised some of them already with my friend, Mr. Smith.

If you have any questions, we're happy to try and assist you with that, but otherwise I don't have anything further to add.

MR. THOMPSON:  The Panel has no further questions of Staff, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  So with that, if you could give us maybe half an hour to pull this together, and we will be back to deliver our decision.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:10 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:36 p.m.
DECISION:


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Please be seated.  This is our oral decision on the matters that are before us today. 

Firstly, dealing with the issues covered by the settlement, the OEB approves the settlement.  With the explanations provided by Mr. Smith, Mr. Kitchen and Mr. Mondrow, along with the detailed written submissions from Board Staff, there is more than sufficient rationale to support the settlement of the three issues covered by it, as well as the ongoing commitments contained therein.

We find that the settlement produces outcomes that are in the public interest.  This finding is reinforced by the support for the settlement from the broad array of intervenors experienced in ratemaking, to which Mr. Mondrow referred in his submissions. 

Turning to issues not covered by the settlement, we find that Union's proposals related to these issues, supported as they are in their entirety by Board Staff, as appropriate and reasonable proposals. 

The lack of intervenor support on these issues does not dilute the reasonableness of Union's proposals, many of which are mechanistic adjustments under the auspices of the five-year IRM framework that is applicable to the determination of Union's rates. 

These adjustments produce outcomes that are in the public interest.  Accordingly, Union's application, as adjusted by the provisions of the settlement proposal, is approved. 

The final rate order, including the draft rate order material submitted by Union in its application, will be issued forthwith.

The settlement agreement will be attached to that rate order and all of the commitments made by Union in the settlement, regardless of whether they stem from prior settlements or not, are to be treated as though they were directives from the Board. 

We wish to record our concern about the extent to which the impact on customers in Union's northwest service area, previously its northwestern service area, is at variance with the impacts in service areas immediately to the west and east.

We appreciate that these impacts stem from changes to cost allocation previously approved by the OEB.  We nevertheless urge Union to manage the implementation of the increases in rates in this particular area as delicately as the circumstances will allow. 

We emphasize that our approval of rates in this proceeding is for 2017 only, and they do not affect the rights of any customer to seek changes in future proceedings. 

We appreciate that changes to rates stemming from the Board's interim order in the greenhouse gas emission proceeding, changes in rates stemming from this proceeding, and changes in rates stemming from the pending QRAM proceeding, are to be combined and reflected in one order to be issued effective January 1, 2017. 

We urge Union and the Board to prepare customer notices that will transparently explain, separately and in combination, the effect of these various rate changes on customers in all service areas. 

We are indebted to all parties who appeared before us today for the valuable assistance that they provided to the Panel in helping us fully comprehend all of the matters in issue in this proceeding. 

Unless there are any questions, we're adjourned. 

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  No questions. 

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you. 
--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 3:50 p.m.
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